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REGULATING CURRENCY IN THE HOLY ROMAN EMPIRE 

1. [NUMISMATIC BROADSHEET]          On the relative value of coinage in various Imperial territories. [N.p., n.d. but 
Augsburg, c.1525].

Four woodcut illustrations of the obverse and and reverse of coins.

Size: 309 x 440mm. Broadsheet with uncut edges, once folded.							       £1,500
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A very rare, apparently unrecorded, broadsheet in superb condition, 
attempting to regulate coinage in territories of the Holy Roman Empire.

Illustrating four different, local gröschen silver coins, the broadsheet 
explains their value in relation to the common kreützer, a small copper 
coin used in HRE territories in present-day Southern Germany and Austria. 
Coinage and currency across Imperial territories was heterogeneous, and 
under Charles V ‘the number of currencies remained large. Conditions 
were simplified somewhat by the use of a limited number of high-
purchasing power units in wholesale long-distance trade’ (Volckart, p.20) 
but the persistent use of smaller ‘local’ currency, as well as re-minting and 
debasement of coins between territories made the need for a standardised 
currency, urgent. An attempt was made in the mid 1520s to establish a 
common currency, but failed; issued in 1525, it is possible that the present 
broadsheet was issued as part of this effort.

The four featured coins are from: Lavingen (Lavagna, in present-day 
Liguria, northern Italy) (worth 10.5 kreüzer), with the sides depicting St 
Theonestus throned, and Ludovico il Fieschi, of the Genoese family of 
bankers made dukes in the area. Below that is Monferrato, in Piedmont 
(worth 6.5 kreüzer), and two other places: “Treyer” [i.e. Trier?] (worth 10.5 
kreüzer), with St Martin, and “Ticio” [i.e. Ticino, in Switzerland] (worth 11 
kreüzer), depicting St Alexander.

A four-line summary appears below the illustrations, explaining the official 
status of this coinage and its value.

Light waterstain at edge of left-hand margin; tiny split (repaired) at top and 
bottom of each fold.

O. Volckart, ‘The Dear Old Holy Roman Realm. How does it hold together? Monetary 
Policies, Cross-cutting cleavages and political cohesion in the age of Reformation’, 
Economic History Working Papers, no.288, Oct. 2018, LSE [open access]. (45263)    
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A VENETIAN COMMISSION, WITH PORTRAIT OF ST SEBASTIAN

2.	 [DUCALE]          Frontispiece to a Ducale, issued by the Doge of 
Venice, Andreas Gritti. Venice, c. 1523-1530. 

On recto text set within a wide border on all four sides of foliage and flowers in 
pale blue and brown highlighted with gold and white tracery all set on deep blue 
background; upper border showing the lion of St Mark, symbol of Venice, side border 
with oval portrait of St. Sebastian, the arms of the Contarini family in lower border 
against a landscape background; first four lines of text written in gold against a deep 
magenta background, one small initial “C” in gold against a green background.

Size of leaf: 235 x 150mm. 14 (recto) & 24 (verso) lines of text in a neat humanistic 
hand. 									       

									          £4,250

The frontispiece of a Ducale, presented to Sebastiano Contarini by Andreas 
Gritti (1455-1538), Doge of Venice from 1523 to 1538. Each Ducale recorded 
a commission authorised by the Doge and was usually finely illuminated and 
bound in an elaborate morocco binding; they are found from the beginning of 
the 16th century to the end of the 17th this being an early example. The oval 
portrait of St Sebastian in the border is presumably a nod to the name of the 
Ducale’s recipient, Sebastiano.

This ducal commission appoints Contarini to govern the island of Kephalonia 
for two years. In 1504, a treaty gave Venice control of the island; thus while 
the rest of Greece was ruled by the Turks, the Ionian islands were governed 
by the Venetians, and would be until the eighteenth century. Scant surviving 
records suggest that Contarini appears to have held several diplomatic posts 
in Venetian-owned territories; a record of one of his previous appointments is 
preserved in a painting by Vittore Carpaccio of “Sebastiano Contarini’s entry 
into Capodistria [now Koper, Slovenia] as Podesta”, dated 1517. The present 
document outlines the role, remuneration, and conditions of his appointment, 
including forbidding owning possessions there or marrying a local inhabitant.

The Contarini family was one of the 12 families who elected the first doge of 
Venice in 697. Its members - men of letters, painters, statesmen and soldiers - 
included several doges. 

Remnants of tape on verso; some unobtrusive areas of wear to border floral 
design. (246301)   
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BIBLIOPHILE POPE ESTABLISHES ARCHIVE 

3.	 [SIXTUS V (Pope)]; MARICONDA (Giulio Cesare)    Edictum 
erectionis Archivii ecclesiastici. Rome: heirs of Antonio Blado, 1587.

Single sheet (470 x335mm.) Woodcut papal arms at head, large historiated 
woodcut initial V, dated at end 20 February 1587. 

(with:)

[SIXTUS V]	  Reuocatio officii archivistae ecclesiastici generalis ac 
illius suppressio & extinctio. Rome: heirs of Antonio Blado, 1587.	 	
		

Folio (315 x 215mm.) ff. [4], dated 8 June & 13 May 1587. Large woodcut 
papal arms on cover, large woodcut initials, signed at end by Ascanio 
Mazziotti, with seal. 	 	  							     
								        £1,500

Rare ephemera documenting key early steps in the establishment of 
an ecclesiastical archive, by reforming, bibliophile Pope, Sixtus V.
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The ecclesiastical archive established by order of the great reforming 
Franciscan Pope Sixtus V (1521-90, Pope 1585-90) was an immense 
undertaking, aiming to gather in one place the documents of all clerical 
organisations within the established church – from Franciscans, Jesuits 
and other orders, to secular priests in ordinary parishes – as well as the 
administrative records concerning church land and property. Sixtus V’s 
realisation of the importance of archives for proper church governance 
and the protection of property (ecclesiastical and lay) was fuelled in no 
small part by his own familiarity with, and strong interest in, books and 
papers; prior to his papacy, Felice Peretti had been inquisitor in Venice 
and responsible for the attempts to control the Venetian printers and 
booksellers, and indeed for the eventual printing there of the Index. 
He had also been a book collector himself, but in 1564 renounced his 
library out of respect for his vows of personal poverty.

The first, single-sheet edict is sent out under the name of the 
ecclesiastical archivist Giulio Cesare Mariconda, Bishop of Trivento. 
Mariconda explains the need for the establishment of General 
Ecclesiastical Archives to protect the properties and goods of the 
Church, and the need for submission of papers and inventories 
relating to all ecclesiastical properties. He writes quite high handedly 
threatening interdiction on those who do not comply.

The second document is divided into two sections, the first being 
the ‘cedula motus proprii’ of Sixtus V and the second addressed to 
various cardinals, including the scholar Antonio Carafa (1538-91) who 
succeeded Sirleto as the Vatican librarian. The document is signed at 
end by Ascanio Mazziotti, notary from 1576 to 1596 in the second 
office of the cardinal vicar of Rome.

The present documents are but steps in the organisation of archives, 
others followed. These plans were just one element of an ambitious 
program of reforms zealously pursued by Sixtus V in his short papacy, 

which also included completion of the Vatican; restoration of Church 
funds after the financial demands of the Counter-Reformation; and an 
extensive programme of architectural modernisation in Rome.

Broadside with old horizontal and vertical fold lines, small hole to 
centre, waterstain at upper corner, small, discrete repair at head. 
Pamphlet with 
extant holes 
for stabstitched 
binding (now 
absent). Both 
otherwise 
in excellent 
condition.

CNCE 25559 (s.v. 
Santa Sede) recording 
3 copies including 
the BL. CNCE 42290 
listing 5 copies 
including BL. (cf. 
Markus Friedrich, 
‘Notarial archives in 
the papal states...’ in 
Melanges de l’Ecole 
française de Rome, 
Italie et Méditerranée 
modernes et 
contemporaines, 
123-2, 2011). See 
S. Giordano article 
on Sixtus V in 
Enciclopedia dei Papi 
(available online). 
(228221)

6



THE ‘TRIBUNAL OF BLOOD’ REGULATES THE CARRYING OF 
WEAPONS

4.	 [COUNCIL OF TEN]          Sommario delle Parti prese 
nell’illustriss. Conseglio di Diese 1561. & 1563. Circa le Armi. Calle 
delle Rasse, Venice, 14 November, 1589.   	

With woodcut arms of the Republic of Venice, featuring the lion of St Mark, 
woodcut initial.

Single sheet (425x275mm) printed on paper, one side only, tipped in to window 
mount (small hole not affecting legibility, minor spotting, otherwise very good 
condition).
								        £1,750

The only copy found of this broadside, restating stringent regulations 
regarding the carrying of personal weapons in the city of Venice, first 
issued in 1561 and again in 1563.

Issued by the Council of Ten - Consiglio di Dieci - the ‘severest and 
most feared of Venetian constitutional bodies’ (G. Cozzi, ’Authority 
and the Law in Renaissance Venice’, in J. R. Hale, Renaissance Venice 
(London, 1973), p.294) responsible for security and intelligence in the 
Republic, this proclamation describes the laws regarding carrying arms, 
and the punishments to be meted out to those in violation. The rules 
differ according to time of day. Carrying any form of weapon at night, it 
begins, is completely prohibited, even for those in possession of an arms 
licence, from two hours after sunset in winter, and one hour after sunset 
in summer. 
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The punishments are severe. In all cases, weapons will be immediately confiscated, and 
those found carrying will be subject to a fine of 200 lire per person, and a further 200 per 
weapon confiscated. Those who fail to pay will be imprisoned; those who refuse to pay or 
do not pay fast enough will be publicly subjected to the standard three sessions of ‘tratti di 
corda’, a form of corporal punishment in which the individual was restrained with hands tied 
behind their back, and raised by a rope attached to their wrists.

During the day, the rules vary. Those found with weapons without an official licence to 
own or carry are subject to a penalty, which varied according to the nature of the weapon. 
Shorter knifes are subject to a fine of 10 lire; longer knives incur four months in prison and 
200 lire; a spada, side sword, or cortella, thirty lire; a weapon of iron/lead - presumably 
a gun or pistol - in addition to a dagger, 50 lire; a polearm, 200 lire, and those with arms 
anywhere else on their person, in addition to the above stated, 100 lire. 

While we have found several proclamations issued throughout the sixteenth and early 
seventeenth centuries by the Council of Ten (all in 4to format) prohibiting arms, banditry, 
assassination, and duels, we have found no other copies of these regulations in broadside 
format. Of the earlier incarnations of 1561 and 1563 referenced in the title we have found 
only quarto pamphlet versions of the 1563 regulations (at the Bib. Casanatense, Rome; Bib. 
d’arte del Museo civico Correr and Bib. Naz. Marciana, Venice; Bib. Civ., Padova; Bib. Civ. 
Angelo Mai, Bergamo). Of earlier regulations regarding the carrying of arms, arquebuses, 
civic violence and so on we have found only quarto pamphlet editions. For further details, 
please enquire. (244101)



RARE EXECUTION BROADSIDE

5.	 [BROADSIDE] [THIRTY YEARS WAR] Pragerische 
Execution. N.p. (but Germany), 1621. 

Single sheet (307 x 390mm) laid down on thick, deckle-edged 
C19th (?) carta rustica. Printed in letterpress with half-page 
engraving at head (270 x 185mm). Text in fraktur in three columns, 
typographical border.	
							       £1,250

A rare German broadside marking the execution, on 21 June, 
1621, of 27 leaders of the 1618 Bohemian Revolt in Prague’s 
Old Town Square. We have found only three copies.

Containing seven numbered scenes, the engraving begins with 
sentencing in the top left, and ends with gruesome scenes 
of execution and torture in the centre. The text describes the 
events prior to and on the day, and identifies the accused, 
ending with a prayer for their souls. The 27 killed had led an 
uprising of the principally Protestant, Bohemian estates against 
the ruling Habsburg dynasty. The revolt failed two years later, 
and marked the definitive assertion of Catholic interests in 
Bohemia for several centuries.

‘The seventeenth century was the great age of the illustrated 
broadside in Germany, where its suitability as an instrument of 
propaganda was exploited to the full’ (Paisey, 56). An excellent 
example of an extraordinarily popular print medium in this 
period of European history.

We have found only two copies recorded in Germany, at 
the Universitätsbibliothek Erfurt and Universitätsbibliothek 
Erlangen-Nürnberg; and only one outside, at the British 
Museum (museum no: 1880,0710.409). We have found none 
listed in collections in the US.

Provenance: From the collection of the Earls of Macclesfield, 
with their blind stamp to head of mount.

VD17 547:742868N. Paas, The German Political Broadsheet, Vol. 3, 
P-806. D.L. Paisey, ‘Illustrated German Broadsides of the seventeenth 
century’, The British Library Journal 2.1, 1976, pp.56-69. (250715)   
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CUSTOM PROPAGANDA BROADSIDE, OF TWO PARTS

6.	 [BROADSIDE] [THIRTY YEARS WAR] Abbildung der 
furnembsten staedt schlos und fl[eck]en in Deutsland. N.p. (but 
Germany, ?1621-22). 

Composite sheet (484 x 420mm) made up of text portion and 
engraved portion (420 x 296mm) pasted together, laid down on 
thick, deckle-edged C19th (?) carta rustica. Text printed in letterpress 
in German and French, fraktur and italic respectively, in six columns, 
typographical border surrounding three sides of text; engraved portion 
composed of two plates, outer border with large and small engraved 
vignettes, containing central plate with portrait of Spinola and Henrich 
von den Berg, and fifty vignettes of conquered towns.

								        £1,250

An unusual illustrated German broadside celebrating the 
victories and conquests of the Marquis de Spinola - Ambrogio 
Spinola (1569-1630) - in the lower Palatinate on behalf of the 
Spanish Empire in the Thirty Years’ War. It is a composite sheet 
and thus we have found no record of it in institutions, and 
just one, sole note of a sheet of different dimensions, with the 
same title, in a late nineteenth-century private catalogue (see 
Die reichhaltigen Sammlungen weiland Sr. Excellenz des Herrn 
Grafen Ludwig Paar (Wien: 1896), no.203; Paas, Vol III, P-700 
bears a similar but not identical title).



The two portions of this broadsheet have been pasted together at the 
head of the lower, textual portion. There is little indication of when 
this might have occurred, though just visible on the verso of the lower 
segment is a portion of printed text of a broadside calendar printed in 
red and black (the titles in red MARTIUS and APRILIS, and lists of their 
dates, are just discernible); evidently the calendar itself was cut up as 
waste paper to be reused. The fact that the broadside’s laudatory poems 
were printed on recycled paper makes it tempting to interpret this as 
evidence of hasty print-shop composition. Several of the vignettes 
in the engraving have been left empty, presumably in anticipation of 
Spinola’s future conquests.

While we have found little evidence of this item – or its parts - 
in collections, Spinola was widely celebrated for his exploits in 
broadsheets and pamphlets in the early years of the Thirty Years’ War, 
and extant examples of these follow a similar theme, illustrating which 
and how many towns and villages he reclaimed from the Protestant 
Union. This is thus an unusual example, printed notably early in the 
conflict, of an ephemeral print genre that reached its zenith in the 
conflict-ridden years of the early seventeenth century.

Provenance: from the library of the Earls of Macclesfield, with their 
blindstamp at head of broadsheet. (250716)    
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PRINTED ON SILK BY DIDOT 

7.	 [FRENCH REVOLUTION]          Discours du roi, prononcé le 
5 mai 1789, jour où sa Majesté a fait l’ouverture des Etats-Généraux. 
[Paris]: de l’imprimerie de Didot l’Aîné, [1789].  

Single sheet (515 x 380mm) framed. Printed on silk, neatly stitched to 
board, with nineteenth-century framers’ label pasted on verso, ‘Au Spectre 
Solaire, 28, Rue Satory, 28, Versailles. Bourdier, Dorure, Papeterie, et 
Encadrements’ (minor pulling of fabric near stitches, slight discolouration, 
one stain at lower right border, otherwise in excellent condition).   
								        £9,500

An exceptionally rare survival, in superb condition, this printed silk 
proclamation reproduces the text of the speech given by King Louis 
XVI at the opening of the Estates-General on 5 May, 1789. The text, 
in distinctive Didot type, is surrounded by a combination of crisply 
printed typographic ornament and engraved, delicate floral sprays. 
At the head are the royal arms of King Louis XVI, and pasted into 
roundels either side are profile portraits, printed on silk, of Louis and 
Queen Marie Antoinette.  

Describing himself as ‘le premier ami’ of his people, the King 
acknowledges the parlous state of French finances, and the disquiet 
caused by taxation. The Third Estate broke away to form the National 
Assembly less than six weeks later, a crucial first step towards 
Revolution. 

Also issued in regular, 8vo paper copies at the royal press, copies of 
the speech printed in this format on silk are extremely rare. We have 
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identified only four others: two at the Musée Carnavalet, Paris (G.22143; another listed without shelfmark); one at the Getty Library (P980009* 
(bx.1,f.4)); and one at the John Rylands Library (R207075). Of these only three, including this one, are intact. The John Rylands copy and one at 
the Musée Carnavalet have been defaced, with variously the physical excision of the royal arms, portraits of the king and queen, and the word 
‘Roi’ in the title.  

Just as extraordinary as the survival of this copy are the circumstances of its creation. French essayist Jean-Pierre-Louis de Luchet (1740-1792) 
describes copies of the speech ‘superbly printed on silk, and adorned with portraits of the King and Queen’ commissioned by decorated general 
Charles Henri Hector, Comte d’Estaing (1729-94) to be presented to each of the 144 members of the Assemblée Generale de la Commune de 
Paris. Unfortunately for d’Estaing, the Commune of Paris became one of the most radical of the revolutionary bodies, and he would be put on trial 
for his loyalty to the crown and executed by guillotine in 1794. 

 ‘The size of the sheet and crispness of the impression indicate that the printing was executed on the new ‘one shot’ press of François-Ambroise’s 
invention’ (Jammes, p.18, no.38), with one of the new type designs of Didot’s punchcutter, Pierre-Louis Vafflard.  Printing on silk was fittingly 
opulent for the purpose, though difficult to do; contemporary printing guides emphasised the complexities of printing on sheer, slippery fabrics 
like silk, that must be pulled straight and taught, to avoid printing unevenly or on folds (see Bosse, Cochin; Gaskell, p.231). The border floral 
ornament was cast separately and then assembled on the press; the royal portraits, elsewhere attributed to Augustin Saint-Aubin (1736-1807), were 
separately printed on silk and then pasted into the oval frames (see Bocher, nos. 146 & 169). The whole appears to have been composed under 
the direction of ‘Bevalet’, on 
the ‘rue des Cinq Diamants’, 
perhaps little-known painter 
François Noël Bevallet.

 
A. Bosse & C.N. Cochin, De la 
Manière de graver à l’eau forte 
e au burin (Paris: 1758).  R. 
Gaskell, ‘Printing House and 
Engraving Shop: A Mysterious 
Collaboration’, The Book 
Collector, 53 (2004), 213-54. A. 
Jammes, Les Didot: Trois Siècles 
de typographie & de bibliophilie 
1698-1998 (Paris: Bibliothèque 
historique de la ville de Paris, 
1998), p.18, no.38.  Jean-Pierre-
Louis de Luchet, Memoirs pour 
servir a l’histoire de l’annee 
1789, Vol. III (Paris: Chez 
Brunet, 1791). (241545)
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PRINTED IN THE FIRST YEAR OF THE REVOLUTION

8.	 [FRENCH REVOLUTION]          Calendrier Royal pour 
l’année mil sept cent quatre-vingt-dix. Rouen: P. Seyer & 
Behourt, Impr. de son Eminence Mgr. le Cardinal, rue de Petits-
Puits, [n.d., but 1789]  

Single sheet broadside (524 x 420mm), printed on paper, deckle 
edges. Title printed in centre in red and black, lower two-thirds 
of sheet with annual calendar, printed in letterpress with months, 
significant religious festivals, and the astrological position of the sun 
printed in red, enclosed in tabulated form, flanked on either side by 
three woodcut portraits of French monarchs, 12 woodcut portraits of 
monarchs at head of sheet, all with letterpress captions with names 
and lengths of reign (one old vertical & three horizontal fold lines, 
small holes very neatly repaired on verso, grubby at folds and edges, 
frayed edges).
							       £2,500

An impressive survival; a rare broadside calendar from Rouen 
for the year 1790, printed within the first year of the Revolution. 
Presumably printed in 1789 for the following year, it follows the 
traditional, Gregorian calendar; the Republican calendar that 
would replace it was introduced in 1793.



That this broadside was printed as a ‘calendrier royal’ with woodcut portraits of 
the French monarchy at this time is jarring, though perhaps unsurprising. At the 
time of printing, the Revolution was in its very early stages, and France was still 
ostensibly a monarchy; the monarchy was abolished two years later, in 1792. 
More striking is the survival of this broadside - with its depictions of early French 
kings - through those succeeding years, which saw the abolition of the Ancien 
Regime, the execution of the King, the establishment of the First Republic and 
the Terror. Designed to be pinned up and publicly displayed, the established fold 
lines visible here suggest that it was kept thus, perhaps accounting for its survival.

We have found only one other copy of this calendar, in France, in the Musée des 
civilisations de l’Europe et de la Méditerranée, Marseille (56.9.1.3 D). A surviving 
calendar in the same format from Lille, printed for the year 1791, is also titled 
‘Calendrier Royal’, with the Gregorian calendar, though illustrated instead with 
woodcuts of coinage, rather than monarchs (Paris, Musée Carnavalet, G.29806); 
that printed for the following year, 1792, was renamed the ’Calendrier Nationale’ 
(in the same collection, G.29825).  Helot, 1908. (246654)
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PRECARIOUS EARLY WELFARE PROVISION IN REVOLUTIONARY FRANCE

9.	 [BUREAU GÉNÉRAL DE BONFAISANCE]          État général des répartitions de numéraire, farines ordinaries, farines blanches. Paris: 
Bureau général de Bienfaisance, 1798. 

Printed on paper, single sheet (325 x 425mm). Stamp of the Bureau Général de Bienfaisance in upper left corner (one vertical fold, one horizontal, closed 
tear c.1cm where vertical fold meets outer edge of sheet, very slight browning along lower edge and vertical fold).				   £2,500
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A detailed account of poor relief in Paris, issued as an internal 
memorandum by the Revolutionary government’s body for social 
welfare, the Bureau général de Bienfaisance. A fascinating snapshot of 
the work of the first dedicated welfare system in France; we have found 
a reference to just one other copy, at the Archives de Paris (D 403. VD 
6976).

Printed in Floréal an 6 (April, 1798) for a meeting of the legislative 
body the Conseil des Cinq-cents in July of the same year, this document 
outlines the forms of provision, both monetary and in kind, given to 
the poor and destitute populations of each of the 48 divisions of Paris 
from 1796-1797. The columns list the capital’s twelve municipalities 
and the four named divisions within each; the names of the heads of 
each division’s welfare committee; the total indigent population in 
each division; the total financial relief provided; and any additional 
extraordinary financial relief provided. The remaining seven columns 
detail aid given in kind, ‘à domicile’, that is, home relief: flour for bread 
for the destitute; white flour for infants; rice; wood for cooking; wood for 
the elderly; bundles of sticks; and peat. 

Though giving an impression of efficient and effective aid relief in 
operation in Paris, the Bureau général’s meticulously ordered self-
accounting here belies a precarious welfare system under considerable 
and constant pressure, which relied heavily on local, unsalaried 
volunteers. First established in 1789, the first few commissions to assist 
the needy were replaced by the centralised Commission centrale de 
Bonfaisance (referenced at the head of the present document) in 1793, 
which in turn was replaced by the Bureau général in August 1796. 
‘Welfare was organised by the forty-eight sections, which elected 
unsalaried local committees rather than relying on an impersonal 
municipal bureaucracy. Forced to make hard choices with scanty 

resources, the committees established clear priorities in favour of the 
elderly and infirm, the ill, and working parents with small children. A 
modicum of aid in kind - a subsistence entitlement - was distributed 
in ways adaptable to differing types of need’ (Woloch, p.188). The 
pressure on this system was unceasing, and was exacerbated by political 
instability, profound economic crisis and currency failure in 1795-1796 
which drove up the numbers of those dependent on state relief (including 
many of the welfare commissioners themselves (Woloch, p.789)). 

The total indigent population for the whole of Paris is given as 100,000, 
which comes to a little over 2fr. per head of monetary aid, just under a 
fifth of a sack of flour, and around a fifth (100g) of a livre (500g) of rice. 
Meagre though it appears, state provision in Paris was in fact exceptional, 
far from representative of that to be found in the rest of France (see 
Woloch, p.811). This data thus offers numerous avenues for further 
research into the nascent welfare state in France, and the early workings 
of a system that, though precarious, would persist into the late nineteenth 
century.

This document is described in the proceedings of a legislative meeting 
of the Conseil des Cinq-cents, and that it was not intended for general 
consumption or display is reinforced by both its format - not easily 
legible if pinned up at a distance - and treatment; the central vertical 
fold line suggests that it was perhaps intended to be tucked into a folder 
of administrative documents, though not to be bound in, as there is no 
evidence of holes for stitching or fastening.

One other copy listed here: Archives de Paris, Administration municipal 
pendant la révolution (1789-1900) , D 403. VD6976 [open access].

Refs: Journal des Débats et Lois du corps legislatif, Thermidor, An 4 (Paris: Baudouin), 
no.67, p.47. I. Woloch, ‘From Charity to Welfare in Revolutionary Paris’, The Journal 
of modern History, 58.4 (1986), 779-812. (250090)
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AUSTRALIA’S FIRST GOVERNMENT ASTRONOMER WRITES TO THE 
PRESIDENT OF THE ROYAL ASTRONOMICAL SOCIETY

10.	 RÜMKER (Carl Ludwig Christian); RÜMKER (Georg); LEE  (John)         
CORRESPONDENCE, 1844-1862.    

A collection of 90 ALS between Karl Rümker and John Lee, with others, incl. 
copies; 13 letters from Rumker’s son Georg to Lee; 2 further printed items. 		
								        £4,000

An impressive archive of the correspondence between astronomer 
Rümker (1788-1862) and amateur astronomer and founder member of 
the Royal Astronomical Society, John Lee (1783-1866), along with an 
additional, smaller group of correspondence between Lee, and Rümker’s 
son Georg (1832-1900).

Born in 1788 in Stargard, Germany, Rümker enjoyed a varied early 
career and it was not until 1816 that he became interested in astronomy. 
Following recommendation for the role, he arrived in Sydney in 1821 
to take up his post at Australia’s first observatory, the Governor of New 
South Wales Sir Thomas Brisbane’s private observatory, at Parramatta. 
Alongside rediscovering Encke’s comet, for which he received plaudits 
and a land grant of 1000 acres - which he named Stargard - Rümker’s 
continued observations led to further discoveries and the creation of ‘an 
extensive star catalogue of the southern hemisphere, documenting the 
position of over 7,000 stars’ (Leopoldina; see below). 

“On 21 December 1827 Governor Sir Ralph Darling appointed him 
Government Astronomer, the first to hold that post in Australia.” 
(see ADB). Unfortunately his time in the role would be shortlived; a 
quarrel with Sir James South (1785-1867), then president of the Royal 
Astronomical Society, led to Rümker’s dismissal from British government 
service in June 1830. Returning to Hamburg, he was extremely prolific in 
his later years; in 1857 he was granted permanent leave for health reasons, 
and, as these letters relate, he went with his wife to Lisbon, where he died 
in 1862.

The majority of Rümker’s letters to John Lee in this archive are addressed 
to him at Doctor’s Commons in London, where he held various offices 



as an advocate after November 1816, but it is for his scientific interests that Lee 
is best known. He was a keen astronomer, building an observatory at Hartwell 
House, Buckinghamshire, and was a founder member of the Royal Astronomical 
Society in 1824, acting as treasurer and later president (1861-2), as well as a keen 
correspondent with the leading astronomers of Europe (as illustrated here). In 
1830 he assisted in the formation of the British Meteorological Society, of which 
he was treasurer and later president; he was also a founder member of the Royal 
Geographical Society, and members of numerous others. 

The correspondence offers an insight into the thriving, international republic of 
letters that persisted in nineteenth-century scientific circles. Dating from the latter 
years of Rümker’s life, the majority are from Hamburg and Lisbon and are scientific 
in focus, containing tabulated observations on comets, references to apparatus, 
as well as notes on figures and developments in the broader scientific community 
of the time, both lesser- and better-known. One from May, 1857, refers to the 
‘equatorial telescope’ at Lee’s Hartwell House, designed by his neighbour Admiral 
William H. Smyth (1786-1865), which is now at the Science Museum. Rümker 
refers to experiments underway by a colleague in distilling seawater to create 
drinkable fresh water – ‘likely to become of the highest importance for navigation’ 
(July 28, 1856). A later letter from Georg Rümker to Lee, dated March 2, 1863 and 

with a black mourning border marking his father’s death, thanks Lee for interceding on his behalf with extraordinary scientist and polymath Sir John 
Herschel (1792-1871). The letters (13) from Georg, Christian’s son, date from between 1848 and 1854 and are written from the Observatories at 
Durham and Oxford. All letters are endorsed in a small neat hand (Lee’s) with details of sender and date. 

While principally of technical and scientific interest, in chattier, conversational moments the correspondence gives the impression of a real friendship 
existing between Rümker and Lee. Included here are complaints about the exorbitant charges of the bookseller Asher in Berlin for sending books; 
accounts of the breaking of Rümker’s telescope in Lisbon, and so on. In a letter dated 25 April, 1845 Rümker seeks Lee’s consideration and advice on 
an enclosed document ‘Articles of agreement …13 September 1844’ concerning the sale of Rümker’s land and dwelling at Picton, Australia.

Provenance: 1. Carl Ludwig Christian Rümker (1788-1862) astronomer. 2. Georg Wilhelm Friedrich Rümker (1832-1900); interested in astronomy 
from an early age, Georg taught at the Hamburg Navigation School, studied in Berlin (1851) and in 1853 came to Durham Observatory in the 
United Kingdom.  He returned to Hamburg in 1855, where he took over his father’s position after his departure for Lisbon. 3. John Lee (1783–1866), 
antiquary, astronomer and founder member of the Royal Astronomical Society. There was a sale at Sotheby’s in April 1938 of books from Hartwell 
House, and it is likely that these items were sold around that time. The family papers of Lee are in the British Library (Add. MSS. 47490-93), together 
with a number of items from the Lee collections (including one Arabic manuscript), but there are also papers in the Bodleian, and in other institutions 
from Canada to Australia. 

Biographical information drawn from G.F.J Bergman, ‘Rümker, Christian Carl Ludwig’, Australian Dictionary of Biography; see entry for further details; ‘Curriculum Vitae Carl 
Ludwig Christian Rümker’, Leopoldina, Nationale Akademie der Wissenschaften [open access]). (216273)
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ARCHDUCAL FOOT WASHING ON HOLY THURSDAY

11.	 [MAUNDY THURSDAY]          Specificazione dei dodici poveri ...alla 
lavanda de’piedi. Milano: dall’imperiale regia stamperia, 1847.  
Pamphlet title with ducal arms.

8vo pamphlet (185 x 116mm) folding out to tall folio (370 x 230mm) in custom folder of 
blue card, upper cover with black sticker with title and date in gold. Bifolium, printed on 
recto of first leaf, full-page, and verso of final leaf in lower quarter, to create title when re-
folded. Central pages ie. verso of f.[1] and recto of f.[2] blank (vertical and horizontal fold 
lines, three closed tears, two of which discreetly repaired with paper and tape on verso, 
minor browning and creasing).						      £350

A pamphlet advertising the ritual washing of the feet on Thursday of Holy 
Week in Milan, falling on 1 April, 1847. Marking Christ’s washing of the feet 
of the twelve Apostles, there are accordingly twelve of Milan’s elderly poor 
named here who received the rite.

The twelve were admitted to the ceremony by Archduke Rainer of Austria 
(1783-1853) who likely also performed the foot washing himself, in keeping 
with a tradition that persisted in many European courts to the end of the 
nineteenth century (and is still performed by the Pope). It is interesting to note 
that the twelve receiving the rite are not ‘anonymous poor’, but named in 
full, and with their ages given. They are all men; Ranieri’s wife, Archduchess 
Elisabetta, washed the feet of twelve poor widows on the same day. 

This was presumably the final, if not penultimate Maundy rite performed 
by the Duke, who with his wife was ousted from power and forced to leave 
Milan during the Italian revolutions of 1848.

One copy of this pamphlet from a year earlier, 1846, in the Archivio di 
Stato di Padova (Fondo Dolfin Boldu, Busta 223); copy of the parallel 
Specificazione for Rainer’s wife Elisabetta at Getty Research Institute [open 
access on Internet Archive]; copies of Specificazioni for earlier such rites in 
Italian archives.

Provenance: 1. Giannalisa Feltrinelli (1902-1981) with her exlibris, whose 
extraordinary collection of Italian books and manuscripts, from incunabula to 
the Risorgimento, sold at Christie’s London in a series of sales between 1997 
and 2001. (250570)



WITH 48 WOODCUT VIGNETTES OF BULLS AND MATADORS

12.	 [PIFERRER (Thomas)]         Broadside depicting the stages of 
a bullfight. En la librería de Piferrer, Plaza de Angel [Barcelona, n.d. 
but c.1800-1850]

Single sheet (430 x 314mm). 48 woodcut vignettes of bullfighting scenes, 
final nine depicting famous matadors giving names, lettered also in 
woodcut (deckle edges, some waterstaining to outer and lower margins, 
not touching illustrations).				       £1,500

A rare Spanish broadside in excellent condition, with 48 naive 
woodcuts of scenes from the bullfighting ring. Loosely chronological, 
these vignettes depict different stages of the spectacle, beginning 
with the traditional parade into the ring, followed by encounters 
with a picador - mounted on horseback - banderilleros, the well-
known matador, with cloak in hand, and so on. The final nine square 
woodcuts each depict well-known matadors of the time.

This broadside follows the long-standing Spanish printing tradition 
of aleluyas, single-sheet, ephemeral prints, originally produced 
for religious festivals and celebrations but, as here, also used to 
celebrate other events. Found both uncoloured and coloured, they 
were printed with 48 vignettes, traditionally of biblical scenes, and 
are said to have been cut up and used as confetti as a procession 
passed. They have also been labelled the predecessor of the modern 
comic, a a form of lottery game. Often with moralising themes, 
examples like this one - and another we’ve found, with a heavily 
abridged retelling of Don Quixote - seem principally to have been 
for entertainment.

For an extraordinary collection of aleluyas see the Coleccion de 
Aleluyas at the Fundacion Joaquín Díaz. Of this design we have 
found one in the Díaz collection; one at Cambridge University 
Library [item no.145 in volume Tab.b.724]; one at the Met, hand-
coloured. (248007)   
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